
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 
ECONOMY AND GROWTH SELECT COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 
Date: 
 

Thursday, 19 April 2018 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

The Cafe, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

11 April 2018 
 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee  

3. Any matters referred to the Committee under the call-in procedure  

4. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

5. Business Improvement Districts (Pages 9 - 34) 

 An executive summary of the  Buxton BID Feasibility Study can be downloaded 
from the Vision Buxton web site http://www.visionbuxton.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/01/Buxton-BID-Executive-Summary.pdf and the full Feasibility 
Study is also available.  A printed copy of the Feasibility Study will be circulated to 
Committee members.  Philip Barton and Roddie Maclean to attend. 
 
Ian Howarth and Mike Hunter (Opposition to Bid scheme) to attend. 
 

6. Skills - Presentation by Lindsay Allen D2N2 LEP  

7. National Planning Policy Framework Consultation (Pages 35 - 46) 

8. Growth and Planning - Presentation  

9. Gateway Improvement Programme (Pages 47 - 54) 

10. Select Committee Work Programme (Pages 55 - 56) 

11. Any questions referred to the Executive Member (Member Services to be advised of 
any questions at least 4 days prior to the meeting)  

 
SIMON BAKER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Membership of Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor L Grooby (Vice-Chair) 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.visionbuxton.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Buxton-BID-Executive-Summary.pdf
http://www.visionbuxton.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Buxton-BID-Executive-Summary.pdf


Councillor R Atkins Councillor G Claff 
Councillor P Easter Councillor S Flower 
Councillor A Fox Councillor S Helliwell 
Councillor R Quinn Councillor P N Roberts 
Councillor K Sizeland Councillor F Sloman 

 



1 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

ECONOMY AND GROWTH SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 8 February 2018 at 6.30 pm in The Cafe, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 
 

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair) 
 

 Councillors R Atkins, G Claff, S Flower, A Fox, L Grooby, C Johnson, 
J Perkins (substitute for S Helliwell), K Sizeland, F Sloman and J Todd 
(substitute for R Quinn) 
 
Councillor T Ashton, A Barrow, T Kemp and J McCabe were also in 
attendance 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Easter, S Helliwell 
and R Quinn 
 

18/24 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
With reference to minute 18/18, it was reported that Councillor Sizeland had 
declared an interest once it had become apparent that her family had a 
pecuniary interest in agenda item 5. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to the above amendment, the minutes of the meeting held on 
23 November 2017 be approved as a correct record. 
 

18/25 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT - VARIATION OF ORDER 
(Agenda Item ) 
 
The Chair announced that agenda item 8, “Bingswood Industrial Estate – 
Access and Infrastructure for Employment” would be considered prior to 
agenda item 7, “High Peak Design Guide – Supplementary Planning 
Document. 
 

18/26 VISION BUXTON BID - PRESENTATION BY VISION BUXTON 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
The Chair reported that Vision Buxton had presented the Council with 
additional information regarding the Buxton BID on Monday which needed to 
be assessed by Council Officers, and therefore the presentation had been 
deferred to the meeting of the Committee to be held in April. 
 

18/27 A628 UPDATE - PRESENTATION BY HIGHWAYS ENGLAND 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 
The Committee received a presentation from Highways England regarding 
the trans pennine upgrade.  Following a period of public consultation, the 
preferred route had been announced which was Mottram Moor and A57 Link 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 8 February 2018 

 

2 
 

Roads Option A.  There was now a further period of the public consultation 
between 12 February and 25 March. 
 
  It was noted that the route would not now include the climbing lanes east 
bound on the A628, The preferred route was outlined to Members and 
included a new exit off the existing roundabout at the end of the M67 which 
would be signalised, a Mottram underpass and a new link road towards 
Glossop which would have a junction at Bookfield.   
 
Members expressed concern regarding the removal of the climbing lanes, 
expressing the view that they would have helped speed up traffic flow.  The 
Committee were advised that the Peak District National Park had opposed 
the inclusion of the climbing lanes in the scheme, and they had not been 
included in this announcement as they did not make a strong case for 
capacity or safety, but were still under consideration and could be included 
future routes.   
 
Existing traffic problems were in existence at the roundabout at the end of 
the M67, which members were advised would be addressed by the 
signalisation of the roundabout and the de-trunking of that part of the A57 
and the imposition of traffic calming measures and changed priorities at the 
junction of the A57 and Mottram Road.   
 
A junction was to be created at Brookfield rather than a roundabout in an 
effort to balance out the traffic.  Modelling was on-going to determine what 
measures could be undertaken within the wider community to assist traffic 
flow on the A57. 
 
It was anticipated that the new route should be open for traffic by 2023.  
Members were reassured of Highways England commitment to the scheme 
so long as it contributed to provide value for money. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the presentation be welcomed; 
 

2. That the inclusion of climbing lanes in the scheme be part of the 
Councils response to the consultation. 

 
18/28 BINGSWOOD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE - ACCESS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

FOR EMPLOYMENT 
(Agenda Item 8) 
 
The Committee considered a report which sets out the results of long 
running negotiations with the owners of businesses at Bingswood Industrial 
Estate in Whaley Bridge, aimed at securing a commitment from the 
businesses to make a significant contribution to build a new bridge and 
associated infrastructure to improve access on the estate and to reduce 
HGV congestion in the town centre.  The report advised that following 
prolonged negotiations, no businesses were willing to make this contribution 
and without this contribution, state aid rules precluded the use of public 
sector funding as the sole source of funding.  Therefore, the project was 

Page 4




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 8 February 2018 

 

3 
 

undeliverable in its present form prior to the expiry of a critical land option 
held by the council. 
 
The Executive Councillor advised members that there was a possibility that 
a bridge could be delivered as a private development by one landowner.  It 
was therefore proposed to close down work on the stalled project and use 
all available resources to explore the possibility of delivering this more 
modest option that could deliver a large part of the original goals.   
 
Concern was expressed at the recommendation to close the project, with 
the view made that the bridge was the best option for opening up the land to 
extend the industrial estate and creating new jobs in the area.  The 
Executive Member commented that having been involved in the project for 
many years, it was the best solution, but was now undeliverable in the 
available time because the unwillingness of the businesses to contribute 
had prevented access to essential public funding. 
 
It was commented that work should continue with united utilities to prevent 
the sale of the land for the bridge footing on the south side, the council’s 
option on which was due to expire by the end of March 2018. 
 
The commitment of DCC and the LEP to the project was discussed, but 
members were advised that the LEP had made it clear that any public 
funding must be matched by significant contribution from the private sector 
beneficiaries, and similarly with DCC.  Due to the lack private sector 
contribution, both bodies had now withdrawn any provisional commitment 
and there was no money currently allocated in either budget to support a 
publicly funded project. 
 
It was suggested that negotiations should continue with the businesses, 
stressing the need to addresses the HGV movements in the town centre 
which could lead to the re-location of the existing businesses on the 
industrial estate and the associated costs.  It was confirmed that discussions 
would continue with both the businesses and Town Council. 
 
Reference was made to a recent meeting between Whaley Bridge Town 
Council and HPBC, which the Executive member was aware of.  It was 
suggested that the businesses were now willing to make a contribution, and 
the committee were advised that if this was the case then consideration 
would be given to continuing with the project while also pursuing the other 
option in tandem, but that it would likely be impossible within the timescales.  
It was also noted that the projected cost of the meeting was likely to 
increase when a detailed specification was drawn up. 
 
The possibility of working with a single business owner who wished to 
acquire the land and erect a private bridge was considered a good option for 
removing the HGVs from the town centre in the light of the remaining 
existing businesses not wishing to contribute towards the costs of the 
bridge. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

Page 5




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 8 February 2018 

 

4 
 

1. That Council support be switched to assisting individual landowners 
to bring forward a less ambitious scheme that may at least deliver 
some improvement to the access issues; 

 
2. That the Council continue to work with existing businesses on the 

Bingswood estate to facilitate and encourage growth, and to develop 
resilience to potential disruption which  might be caused if the 
existing bridge fails. 

 
 

18/29 HIGH PEAK DESIGN GUIDE - SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
The Committee were presented with the draft High Peak Design Guide, 
which had been subject to consultation with the public and OPUN, the 
Architecture and Design Centre for the East Midlands, which promotes good 
architectural design.  Following this consultation, it was recommended that 
the amended design guide be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the consultation comments and officers’ responses to them be 
noted; 

 
2. That the Executive be requested to recommend that Council adopts 

the Design Guide; 
 

3. That the Executive be recommended to delegate approval to officers 
to make any technical updates to the design guide, including the 
detailed appendices, as required. 

 
18/30 RIGHT TO BUY RECEIPTS: UPDATE REPORT 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 
The Committee considered progress in allocating Right to Buy receipts. 
 
Specific reference was made to the grant allocation towards providing an 
additional 10 units of affordable rented extra care units at Brown Edge 
Road, Buxton, and officers were thanked for their efforts in bringing this 
scheme forward. 
 
RESOVLED: 
 
That the update on allocating RTB receipts be noted. 
 

18/31 SELECT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
RESOVLED: 
 
That the Select Committee work programme be noted. Page 6




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 8 February 2018 

 

5 
 

 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.10 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to Economy and Growth Select Committee 
     19 April 2018 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 - Business Improvement Districts: Technical Guide for Local Authorities 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The report sets out for Councillors the background on Business Improvement 

Districts (BIDs). BIDs are partnerships between local authorities and local 
businesses which are intended to provide additional services or improvements 
to a specified area. A BID must be agreed by ballot and is funded in whole or 
in part by a levy on those liable for non-domestic rates. The report also sets 
out the Council’s responsibilities in relation to BIDs. 
 

2. Recommendation  

2.1 That Councillors note the report. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 In the United Kingdom, BIDs are funded in whole or in part by a levy on non-
domestic ratepayers. This is sometimes linked to, but usually collected 
separately from, their business rate liability, and non-payment of the levy is 
subject to similar remedial action by the billing body.  

3.2 BID-style systems have been operating on the North American continent for 
some years. They have largely been welcomed by businesses, although the 
concept has its critics (see below). 

3.3 BIDs originated in Canada and have been implemented in other countries 
including South Africa, New Zealand and Germany. The benefits of BIDs cited 
by businesses include: 

TITLE: Business Improvement Districts 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Kemp – Executive Councillor  
    for Regeneration 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Dai Larner – Executive Director, Place 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-specific 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



• Businesses decide and direct what they want for the area;  

• Business are represented and have a voice in issues affecting the area;  

• BID levy money is ring fenced for use only in the BID area – unlike 

business rates which are paid in to and redistributed by government;  

• Increased footfall;  

• Increased staff retention;  

• Business cost reduction (shrinkage, crime, joint procurement);  

• Area promotion;  

• Facilitated networking opportunities with neighbouring businesses;  

• Assistance in dealings with the Council, Police and other public bodies. 

3.4 BIDs have also been criticised on a number of grounds including: 

• They are undemocratic; 

• Decision making is not transparent; 

• They can lead to increases in rental values which can price out smaller 

businesses; 

• They can lead to undue pressure on street vendors and homeless people; 

• They can lead to councils passing on the cost of their services to the BID. 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1  BIDs are an option to consider in delivering the corporate aim to Support 

Economic Development & Regeneration.    
 
5. Options and Analysis 
 
5.1 Option 1 – Note the report. This will give Councillors the background 

information and detailed guidance for the Council’s role in relation to BIDs and 
will be useful to guide any decisions the Council may need to take in relation 
to BIDs in the future. This option is recommended. 

 
Option 2 – Do not note the report. Councillors will not have the information 
required on which to base a decision on BIDs in the future.  
This is not recommended. 

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
No implications in relation to this report but aspects of community 
safety may form part of a BID proposal 
 

6.2 Workforce 
No implications  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
No implications in this report but this will be an important aspect of 
any risk assessment. 
 

Page 10



6.4 Financial Considerations 
The role of the Council is set out in the report and any decision 
that the Council may take on BIDs in the future will need to 
carefully consider the costs to the Council. Costs to the Council fall 
into two broad areas – the cost of discharging its legislative 
responsibilities and the cost of having assets located within the 
BID area. 
 

6.5 Legal 
The legislative framework for BID areas is contained in the Part 4 
of Local Government Act 2003, the Business Improvement Districts 
(England) Regulations 2004 (as amended) and, for property owner 
BIDs, the Business Rate Supplements Act 2009 and the Business 
Improvement Districts (Property Owners) (England) Regulations 
2014 (BID legislation).1. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
No implications  

  

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
Any consideration of BIDs will need to carefully and thoroughly 
assess the risks to the Council.   
 
 

7.0 Background 
 

 What do BIDs do? 

7.1 In other towns and cities, BIDs are used to both improve visitor and shopper 
experiences and support businesses. They run projects which are over and 
above Councils’ day-to-day work in town centres and can often enhance 
Councils’ economic development programmes. Projects funded by other BIDs 
include: 

 Marketing and promoting town centres through high quality branding and 

sub-regional advertising campaigns through posters, train panels etc.  

 Town centre focussed events – such as food festivals  or special events. 

 Public realm improvements – a number of BIDs fund their own public realm 

work or provide additional street cleaning regimes. 

 Town centre rangers – usually in distinctive jackets undertaking a range of 

functions including meeting and greeting tourists, offering information on-

street to visitors and shoppers, undertaking town centre janitorial functions 

etc. 

 Supporting businesses in a variety of ways, for example using collective 

bargaining power to negotiate preferential rates on waste collection. 

 

Page 11



How do BIDs work? 

7.2 A ‘proposer’ must develop a proposal describing the additional services that 
will be provided under the BID. The proposal must also set out the proposed 
levy upon ratepayers, including which ones will be exempt. A BID may be 
applied to a “specified class” of properties e.g. retailers, and reliefs may be 
applied. Thus liability for the BID levy may not necessarily follow the standard 
pattern of business rate reliefs that apply, for instance, to small businesses.  

7.3 Non-domestic ratepayers in the BID area vote on the proposal in a ballot. 
Voting is restricted to those ratepayers who would be liable for the levy. In 
most cases the levy takes the form of a liability of between 1% and 2% of the 
rateable value of the ratepayer’s property. However, no maximum or minimum 
levy rates are set in the various regulations. The proposal must also specify 
the length of time that the BID will last: the vast majority last for the maximum 
five-year period. It may also include provisions for discounts or exemptions 
from the levy (for example, for properties below a certain rateable value).  

7.4 A BID levy ballot must be conducted by post. The cost of the ballot must be 
met by the billing authority (i.e. High Peak Borough Council). If fewer than 20% 
of businesses by number vote in favour of the proposals, the billing authority is 
permitted to recover the cost from the proposers. The proposer is entitled to a 
list of electors for canvassing, and to be able to identify who has cast a vote, in 
the manner of a democratic election. A BID must be approved by a numerical 
majority, and a majority by rateable value, of the businesses covered by it. 
This “dual-key” mechanism offers some protection against large firms forcing 
through a proposal against the wishes of small firms, or vice versa 

7.5 A proposer may be a: billing authority; non-domestic ratepayer; a person with 
an interest in land within a proposed BID area; or, members of a body which 
has, amongst its aims, the intention to manage a BID.  

7.6 The Council has a veto power over the establishment of the BID under certain 
circumstances (see paragraph 7.12). If the result of the ballot is in favour of 
the BID, all businesses which fall into the geographical area, and the business 
sector defined in the proposal, will be obliged to contribute to the scheme. It is 
not possible for businesses to refuse to pay a BID levy once it is in place: the 
only option would be to argue against the scheme being extended after its 
end.  

7.7 The maximum term of a BID is five years. After this time, a new ballot must 
take place. The BID may be altered at this point, including changing the rate of 
the levy and/or the area covered. A BID can be established covering any 
geographical area: examples range from town centres to industrial parks. 
There is no upper or lower limit to the number of businesses that can be 
covered by a BID. Councils are permitted to charge the BID participants for 
collecting the levy. Not all Councils make a charge for this. Councils are also 
required to hold BID income in a separate BID revenue account. The various 
regulations do not address how a BID scheme should be managed or 
administered once it has been established. BIDs have a free hand to 
constitute their managing board, make spending decisions, and seek 
additional income as they see fit.  

Page 12



7.8 According to British BIDs, the national advisory agency, most BIDs are non-
profit bodies, but this is not required by the legislation. BIDs are not public 
bodies and are therefore not subject to the transparency and accountability 
requirements that apply to public bodies. The Government published two 
notes in March 2015, one for those planning to set up a BID, Business 
Improvement Districts: guidance and best practice, and one for local 
authorities, Business Improvement Districts: Technical Guide for Local 
Authorities (see appendix 1). These notes provide guidance on how to set up 
and manage BIDs for both councils and participants. 

7.9 A Loan Fund scheme was launched on 14 October 2013 making £500,000 
available to help communities and business groups to establish BIDs. It is run 
by British BIDs and offers loans of between £10,000 and £50,000: Loans of 
between £10,000 and £50,000 per site are available as stage payments based 
on the British BIDs ‘Five Stages of BID Development’. On successful ballot, 
the loan would be repayable to the fund, with interest, on a pre-agreed 
renewal payment Twenty-four areas have been awarded loans so far. The 
current call for bids to the loan fund ended in December 2017. 

BIDs in the United Kingdom 

7.10 Some key facts from the National BID survey 2017 are set out below. 

• There are 283 BIDs in the UK 

• Since 2012 there have been an average of 25 new BIDs each year 

• 28% of BIDs operate with a levy of 1.5%, 27% with a levy of 1% and 10% 

with a levy of 2% or greater 

• Half of all BIDs have less than 408 business rate-payers 

• There has been a 36% increase in the number of business rate-payers 

covered by BIDs 

• The median levy collected is £255,000 per year  

• In total BIDs raise £131m from levies and additional income sources 

• 21% of Councils do not charge for collecting the levy 

• The success rate of ballots is 92.8% 

• Average turnout at ballot is 47% by number and 78% by rateable value 

• 70% of BIDs operate with three or fewer staff 

7.11 BIDs can fund a range of activities. Typically they relate to marketing, 
promotional activities and events, additional street-cleaning, security and 
safety measures and business support. An example of a BID is the one 
established at Leamington Spa and details of their proposed renewed 
business plan is set out at -  http://www.bidleamington.com/identity-cms/wp-
content/uploads/2018/02/BID-Renewal-Bus-plan-2018-23-FOR-WEB-1.pdf. 

The role of the Council 

7.12 The Council plays an important role in the development of a Business 
Improvement District.  

Page 13

http://www.bidleamington.com/identity-cms/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/BID-Renewal-Bus-plan-2018-23-FOR-WEB-1.pdf
http://www.bidleamington.com/identity-cms/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/BID-Renewal-Bus-plan-2018-23-FOR-WEB-1.pdf


a. Councils have the power of veto over the BID proposals if they feel that if 

will conflict with their priorities or result in a disproportionate or inequitable 

burden on people or businesses in the BID area; 

b. Councils must be satisfied that the proposals are properly made and meet 

the requirements of the legislation; 

c. The Council must be notified of the intention by the proposer to hold a 

ballot; 

d. The Council is required to provide a copy of the name of each non-

domestic ratepayer and the address and rateable value of each 

hereditament which is occupied, or (if unoccupied) owned, by him in the 

geographical area of the BID proposals to be developed; 

e. The Council must provide a statement of the services provided by public 

authorities in the BID area. The statement will form part of the BID 

proposals which demonstrate to businesses voting for the BID that the 

proposed BID services are additional to the baseline services provided by 

the public authorities; 

f. The Council is required to manage the collection and enforcement of BID 

levy charges for which it can charge a reasonable fee to cover the costs of 

this activity; 

g. The Council is responsible for conducting the ballot in accordance with the 

guidelines and statutory procedures. 

h. The Council is also responsible for terminating the BID if this is required. 

7.13 In addition the Council is a rate-payer in its own right and has to take a view 
whether and how to vote and to make the necessary financial provision for the 
payment of the levy and the costs associated with the development of the BID. 

7.14 The Council may also be represented on the board of the BID or if it is not 
represented ensure that there is some form of engagement with the board to 
coordinate activities and address any areas of dispute (e.g. relating to 
changes in the statement of services. 

 
 

Dai Larner 
Executive Director - Place 

 
 
 
Background Papers  
 

 

 Contact details 
Dai Larner 
dai.larner@highpeak.gov.uk 

   
 
 
 

Page 14



March 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Business Improvement Districts 
 

Technical Guide for Local Authorities  

 

 
 

Page 15



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2014 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

March 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4564-5

Page 16

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


3 

Contents 

Being familiar with the BID Regulations - 4  

Rating List Holder for provision of rating list data – 7 

Service Provider for provision of statement of existing baseline      
services - 8 

Collection of the BID Levy – 10 

Ballot Holder - for provision of Ballot Services - 12 

Notification of Ballot Outcome - 15 

Declaring a Ballot Void  - 16 

Termination Procedures - 18 

Page 17



4 

Introduction  
 
This Technical Guide focuses on the core roles and responsibilities that a local 
authority is required to undertake in relation to a ratepayer-based Business 
Improvement District (BID) development, management and termination. 
BIDs are business-led partnerships focused on improving and enhancing 
commercial areas.  These areas are typically within town and city centres, 
commercial locations and industrial estates, but can also cover tourist areas.  
Despite the business-led approach there are still a series of critical roles that a local 
authority is required to perform to facilitate the establishment, smooth running and 
termination as required. 
It is the responsibility of both the local authority and the BID proposer to thoroughly 
read and understand the BID legislation to ensure the processes are executed 
appropriately. 
 
The key legislation can be found at 
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=Business%20Improvement%20Districts%20 
 
At the commencement of the BID development process, the local authority should 
agree a full timeline to ballot with the BID proposer to ensure all processes are 
covered and appropriate lead-in times have been considered and agreed.  
The responsibilities for a local authority in enabling the establishment and 
successful operation of a BID are set out below and described in detail in this 
paper: 
 
1. Being familiar with the BID Regulations  
2. Rating List Holder 
3. Service Provider - for provision of statement of existing baseline 
services 
4. Collection of the BID Levy 
5. Ballot Holder - for provision of Ballot Services 
6.Notification of Ballot Outcome 
7. Declaring a Ballot Void  
8. Termination Procedures 
 

1. Being familiar with the BID Regulations   
 
The local authority will wish to satisfy itself that the responsibilities explained in this 
Guide have been completed in accordance with the BID legislation.   
The local authority should ensure it has complied with the regulations, either 
through a formal committee process and/or through a delegated approval to a lead 
member or officer but this should be fully documented.  In practice, local authorities 
with areas who are establishing a BID have decided to  fulfil their responsibilities  
via a committee paper, which usually includes a formal approval for the respective 

Page 18

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=Business%20Improvement%20Districts%20


5 

local authority to cast their vote on their own hereditaments and to make the 
financial provision for the levy costs assuming a successful ballot. 
The local authority has specific responsibilities in the following areas:  
 
 
1a. Veto of BID Proposals 
   
The local authority should satisfy itself that the BID proposal does not conflict with 
any existing local authority policy nor propose a disproportionate burden on 
particular businesses by way of an unfair levy charge on a certain ‘class’ of levy 
payers, for example by an inappropriate manipulation of the BID boundary.  It is 
sensible to do this prior to allowing the ballot to take place so as to minimise the 
risk of having to veto the proposals following the ballot. An unfair charge may be a 
disproportionately higher rate for one sector/group of businesses that isn’t reflected 
in the scope of the BID proposals or perhaps a disproportionately low rate for one 
sector/group of businesses that in effect means their services are being heavily 
subsidised by others. An inappropriate manipulation would involve examples such 
as capturing a high rateable value property, which in geographical terms appears 
outside the scope of the BID. 
 
Veto of BID proposals (Reg 12) 
12.  (1)  For the purposes of section 51(2) of the Act, the prescribed circumstances 
are that the relevant billing authority is of the opinion the BID arrangements are 
likely—  
(a) to conflict to a material extent with any policy formally adopted by and contained 
in a document published by the authority (whether or not the authority is under a 
statutory duty to prepare such document); or  
(b) to be a significantly disproportionate financial burden on any person or class of 
persons (as compared to the other non-domestic ratepayers in the geographical 
area of the BID) and —  
(i) that burden is caused by the manipulation of the geographical area of the BID or 
by the structure of the BID levy; and  
(ii) that burden is inequitable 
  
 
1b. Submission of the BID Proposals  
The local authority should be satisfied that the submission from the BID proposer 
includes a copy of the BID proposal; details of the consultation undertaken; details 
of the finances and financial management of the BID (all of which are likely to be 
contained in the single Business Plan document that businesses will vote on); and 
a demonstration that finances are available to cover the cost of the ballot in the 
event that it fails and the number of persons voting in favour was less than 20% of 
the number of persons entitled to vote.   
 
The local authority must be notified that the BID proposer wishes to put proposals 
for a BID to a ballot, and the BID proposer needs to ask the billing authority (the 

Page 19



6 

local authority) to instruct the local authority’s returning officer (the ballot holder) to 
hold a ballot.  
 
BID Proposals (Reg 4) 
(2) Where a BID proposer decides to seek approval of BID proposals in a BID ballot 
or the BID body decides to seek approval of alteration proposals in an alteration 
ballot or renewal proposals in a renewal ballot, it shall—  
(a) send to the relevant billing authority—  
(i) a copy of the BID proposals, alteration proposals or renewal proposals, as the 
case may be, together with a summary of—  
(aa) the consultation it has undertaken with those persons who are to be liable for 
the proposed BID levy;  
(bb) the proposed business plan (including the estimated cash flow, an estimate of 
the predicted revenue to be generated and the predicted expenditure to be spent 
under the BID arrangements, the predicted budget over the duration of the BID 
arrangements and the contingency margin included in the budget); and  
(cc) the financial management arrangements for the BID body, and the 
arrangements for periodically providing the relevant billing authority with information 
on the finances of the BID body; and  
(ii) a notice in writing requesting the relevant billing authority to instruct the ballot 
holder to hold a BID ballot in relation to the BID proposals, an alteration ballot in 
relation to the alteration proposals or a renewal ballot in relation to the renewal 
proposals, as the case may be; and  
(b) provide the relevant billing authority with such information as it shall reasonably 
require to satisfy itself that the BID proposer or, as the case may be, the BID body, 
has sufficient funds to meet the costs of the BID ballot, the renewal ballot, or the re-
ballot in relation to the BID ballot, or the renewal ballot, as the case may be, should 
it be required to do so under regulation 10.  
 
1c. Content of the BID Proposals  
The local authority will need to check that the final BID proposals include all of the 
details stated within Schedule 1 to the BID Regulations (the Business Improvement 
Districts (England) Regulations 2004) prior to proceeding to ballot.  It should satisfy 
itself that all of these elements have been included in the BID proposals prior to 
giving the go ahead to the commencement of the ballot process.  
 
Schedule 1   
1.  (1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the matters which shall be included in 
BID proposals are—  
(a) a statement of the works or services to be provided, the name of who will 
provide them (the name of the BID body or local authority BID body) and the type of 
body the provider is (whether a local authority, a company under the control of the 
authority, a limited company or a partnership);  
(b) a statement of the existing baseline services (if any) provided by the relevant 
billing authority or other public authority;  

Page 20



7 

(c) a description of the geographical area (including a map showing that area) in 
which the proposed BID arrangements are to have effect;  
(d) a statement of whether all non-domestic ratepayers in the geographical area or 
a specified class of them are to be liable to the BID levy, an explanation of how the 
amount of the BID levy to be levied is to be calculated and an explanation of 
whether any of the costs incurred in developing the BID proposals, holding of the 
ballot or implementing the BID are to be recovered through the BID levy;  
(e) a statement of the specified class of non-domestic ratepayer (if any) for which 
and the level at which any relief from the BID levy is to apply;  
(f) a statement of whether the BID arrangements may be altered without an 
alteration ballot and, if so, which aspects of the BID arrangements may be altered 
in this way;  
(g) a statement of the duration of the BID arrangements; and  
(h) a statement of the commencement date of the BID arrangements 
 

2. Rating List Holder for provision of Rating List data 
 

On receipt of a valid request from the BID Proposer, the Local Authority is required 
to prepare a document (from its business rates records) showing the name of each 
business ratepayer within the boundary of the proposed BID, together with the 
address and rateable value of each relevant business property occupied or (if 
unoccupied) owned by the ratepayer, and provide this to the BID proposer. 
 
Due to the nature of the rating list, the entries on this list can be out of date by 
virtue of for example vacancies or changes of occupation.  The data from this 
source only guarantees the legally eligible hereditaments that are registered on the 
rating list at that point.  The BID proposer will need to ensure the final voter list 
contains the appropriate updated information – please see details set out in 
‘Creating the Voter List’ 
 
When the Valuation Office Agency updates the ratings list, it is good practice to 
ensure that any changes that have occurred during the consultation period are 
forwarded to the BID proposer so that it can be reflected in the voter list where 
appropriate.  The final update should be the last Valuation Office Agency update 
before the Notice of Ballot. 
 
Obtaining information from billing authority for the purpose of developing 
BID proposals (Reg 2) 
2.  (1) On receiving a request (made in accordance with paragraph 2) from any 
person who is developing BID proposals, the relevant billing authority shall–  
(a) prepare a document showing (as far as the relevant billing authority is able to 
ascertain from its non-domestic rates billing records at that time) the name of each 
non-domestic ratepayer and the address and rateable value of each hereditament 
which is occupied, or (if unoccupied) owned, by him in the geographical area of the 
BID proposals to be developed; and  

Page 21



8 

(b) supply a copy of the information in the document to the person concerned in 
data form. 
Obtaining information from billing authority for the purpose of canvassing 
(Reg 11) 
11.  (1) As soon as practicable after instructing the ballot holder to hold a ballot 
(under regulation 5(1)), the relevant billing authority shall–  
(a) prepare a document showing (as far as the relevant billing authority is able to 
ascertain from its non-domestic rates billing records at that time) the name of each 
non-domestic ratepayer and the address and rateable value of each hereditament 
which is occupied, or (if unoccupied) owned, by him in the geographical area to 
which any BID proposals, alteration proposals or renewal proposals, as the case 
may be, relate;  
(b) provide a copy of the document referred to in paragraph (1)(a) to the ballot 
holder as soon after instructing as practicable; and  
(c) make available for inspection by any person a copy of the information in the 
document referred to in sub-paragraph (a) at its principal office during normal 
working hours. 
 

3. Service Provider for provision of statement of 
existing baseline services  
 

It is a requirement under Schedule 1, paragraph 1(1) (b) to the BID Regulations that 
the BID proposals include a statement of the existing baseline services provided by 
the local authority or any other public authority in the proposed BID area.  The 
statement will form part of the BID proposals which demonstrate to businesses 
voting for the BID that the proposed BID services are additional to the baseline 
services provided by the public authorities.   
 
It is best practice for a baseline agreement to be approved at the start of a BID’s 
term which sets out baseline services the local authority is going to provide (that 
reflects the statement of existing baseline services) and services to be provided by 
the BID.  It is unrealistic for local authorities to commit to specific service levels for 
the full five year term of the BID.  The BID proposer and local authority need to 
agree a process for reviewing the baseline agreement and best practice suggests 
the baseline agreement includes an annual commitment for review and if necessary 
update service levels, to reflect the services each will provide the following year.  
 
Where a change in the baseline services provided by the local authority results in 
the BID having to alter the BID arrangements, it may need to hold an alteration 
ballot before it can do so. Changes can be made to the arrangements without a 
ballot, but only where the original arrangements contain provision to this effect and 
only where the change would not alter the geographical boundary of the BID, 
increase the levy or cause anyone to pay the levy who had not previously been 
liable. 
 

Page 22



9 

 
 
Schedule 1 
(b) a statement of the existing baseline services (if any) provided by the relevant 
billing authority or other public authority;  
Alteration of BID arrangements without an alteration ballot (regulation 16) 
(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), BID arrangements may be altered without an 
alteration ballot where the arrangements include a provision to that effect. 
 
(2) No provision mentioned in paragraph (1) may alter— 
 
(a) the geographical area of the BID; or 
(b) the BID levy in such a way that would—(i) cause any person to be liable to pay 
the BID levy who was not previously liable to pay; or 
(ii) increase the BID levy for any person. 
(3) Where paragraph (1) applies, the BID arrangements must include a provision 
describing the procedure to make the alteration. 
(4) The procedure referred to in paragraph (3) must include— 
(a) where there is a BID body, a consultation between the BID body and the 
relevant billing authority; and 
(b) where a local authority BID body is responsible for implementing the BID 
arrangements, a consultation between the relevant billing authority and such 
representatives of the business community for the geographical area of the BID as 
the authority considers appropriate. 
(5) Where the BID arrangements are altered pursuant to this regulation— 
(a) the billing authority shall ensure the BID arrangements (as altered) are made by 
the time those BID arrangements (as altered) are to come into force and shall send 
a notice in writing explaining the reason for and the effect of the alteration to each 
person liable for the BID levy; and 
(b) sections 44 to 47 of the Act, regulations 14 to 18 and Schedules 3 and 4 shall 
have effect from the date the BID arrangements (as altered) come into force as if a 
reference in each of those provisions to “BID arrangements” were a reference to 
the BID arrangements (as altered). 
 
Alterations of the BID arrangements following a ballot (regulation 17) 
(1) Where there is a proposal to alter— 
(a) BID arrangements and those arrangements do not include a provision allowing 
for the arrangements to be altered without a ballot; 
(b) the geographical area of the BID; or 
(c) the BID levy in such a way that would— 
(i) cause any person to be liable to pay the BID levy who was not previously liable 
to pay; or 
(ii) increase the BID levy for any person, 
the BID body or, where a local authority BID body is responsible for implementing 
the BID arrangements, the relevant billing authority may alter the BID arrangements 
in accordance with this regulation. 

Page 23



10 

(2) An alteration of the BID arrangements under this regulation is not to come into 
force unless the alteration proposals are approved by a ballot of the non-domestic 
ratepayers who are to be liable for the BID levy under the BID arrangements (as 
altered) (“an alteration ballot”) and they are not to be regarded as approved by an 
alteration ballot unless— 
(a) a majority of the persons voting in the alteration ballot have voted in favour of 
the alteration proposals; and 
(b) the aggregate of the rateable values of each hereditament in respect of which a 
person voting in the alteration ballot has voted in favour of the alteration proposals 
exceeds the aggregate of the rateable values of each hereditament in respect of 
which a person voting in the alteration ballot has voted against the alteration 
proposals. 
(3) Where BID arrangements are altered pursuant to this regulation— 
(a) the billing authority shall ensure the BID arrangements (as altered) are made by 
the time those BID arrangements (as altered) are to come into force; and 
(b) sections 44 to 47 of the Act, regulations 14 to 18 and Schedules 3 and 4 shall 
have effect from the date the BID arrangements (as altered) come into force as if a 
reference in each of those provisions to “BID arrangements” were a reference to 
the BID arrangements (as altered). 
 
 

4. Collection of the BID Levy 
 

The local authority is required to manage the collection and enforcement of BID 
levy charges. In practice the BID body and the local authority establish a levy 
collection agreement often known as an Operating Agreement.  The principle of this 
agreement is to define the principles and processes for collecting the levy; 
enforcing the payment of the levy; reporting on collection and bad debt; monitoring 
provisions between then BID and the local authority; and providing regular detailed 
and summary information on the service to the BID as the client.  Best practice 
suggests that a draft arrangement between the authority and BID should be 
available for scrutiny by businesses during the ballot period. 
 
The local authority may opt to send the levy bill out as part of the business rate bill 
or as a separate bill.  Best practice suggests that a separate bill that includes a 
clear logo for the BID on the header of the bill and a smaller local authority logo 
with reference to the local authority being the collection agency on behalf of the BID 
is preferable.  This helps to ensure businesses recognise that the BID is delivering 
specific services over and above that which is funded and delivered by the local 
authority.  The local authority is also required to issue an annual billing leaflet with 
the levy bills and this should include the previous year’s financial summary and the 
forecast for the forthcoming year as per Schedule 4 to the BID Regulations, 
paragraph 3 (2). In practice, a billing leaflet is often produced by the BID with the in-
house design style and approved by the local authority prior to printing. 
 

Page 24



11 

The mechanism for charging should be defined within the levy rules of the BID 
business plan and should be agreed between the BID proposer and local authority 
rating department in advance of publication of the Business Plan.  There is no 
requirement within the BID regulations to follow the charging principles of the 
business rates system; instead it is up to the BID proposer to consider the 
principles that are appropriate to their location.  
 
There are two charging principles – ‘daily charging’ that mirrors the approach in the 
business rate system of the charge being broken down to each day of the 365 days 
of the year thereby managing refunds as each change to occupation occurs; or 
‘chargeable day’ that imposes the full year levy charge on the incumbent on a fixed 
day of the year (usually 1st April) and then makes no refunds within the year as a 
result of any changes.  The daily charge system is a more complex system and 
therefore requires a greater resource making the annual levy collection charge 
higher. Where refunds are provided a further component on the levy rules should 
be fixing the charging system so that it operates within a closed financial year 
meaning refunds are only applicable within the current chargeable year.  Whilst the 
chargeable day system tends to be preferred by BIDs because it provides a more 
predictable cash flow and usually means a lower collection charge.   
 
The local authority is permitted to charge a reasonable fee for this service. There 
have been wide variations on charging policies across the country with 
approximately one third of local authorities providing the service at no charge to the 
BID, whilst others at the other end of the spectrum charging over 
£100/hereditament (Source: British BIDs Nationwide BID Survey).  As a 
consequence levy payers have increasingly challenged these charges on the basis 
that there appears to be no correlation between the levy collection rate and its 
relative collection charge.  The Industry Criteria and Guidance Notes (published by 
British BIDs annually on behalf of the British Retail Consortium, the British Council 
of Shopping Centres, the Federation of Small Businesses and the Inter Bank Rating 
Forum) recommend an industry standard of ‘a maximum charge of 
£35/hereditament or 3% of annual levy income, whichever is the lower. 
  
Administration of the BID Levy etc (Reg 15) 
15.  The relevant billing authority shall, by the commencement date, provide for the 
imposition, administration, collection, recovery and application of the BID levy and 
Schedule 4 shall have effect with respect to those matters. 
 
Schedule 4 paragraph 3 
(2) A billing authority must when it serves a demand notice supply to the person to 
whom the notice is served the following information—  
 
(a) the revenue from the BID levy the billing authority was due to receive in the 
previous year;  
(b) the amount spent on the BID arrangements in the previous year;  
(c) a description of the matters on which it was spent; and  

Page 25



12 

(d) a description of the matters on which it is intended to spend the revenue from 
the BID levy in the financial year. 
 

5. Ballot Holder for provision of Ballot Services 
 

The local authority is required to ensure the ballot is operated, either in-house or 
outsourced, in line with the BID Regulations. Irrespective of whether the ballot is 
run in-house or outsourced, the local authority ballot holder still remains legally 
responsible for the ballot process as set out within the Regulations. 
 
Ballot Timetable 
 
The timetable for the ballot is defined within Schedule 2 to the BID Regulations 
stating the key dates as follows: 

• Notification to the local authority and the Secretary of State by the BID 
proposer (min 84 calendar days prior to submitting proposals to the local 
authority) 

• Notice of Ballot (Ballot holder to notify voters) (min 42 calendar days 
before the ballot day) 

• Ballot Period (min 28 calendar days) 
• Ballot Day (must be a working day and finish at 5pm) 
• Count and Announcement (as soon as ‘practicable’ after the ballot day) 

 
Creating the Voter List 
 
The local authority is required to ensure a voter list has been created in readiness 
for a ballot, and this must originate from the rating list to define the eligible 
hereditaments. The Regulations set out that the voter must be an eligible ratepayer 
who will be liable to pay the BID levy and that the address to which the ballot paper 
must be sent can be the address of the hereditament within the BID area or their 
principal place of business.  In practice the rating list does not always provide all 
the relevant information that enables the creation of the voter list, the key 
information it does provide is the actual hereditament entry and Unique Property 
Reference Number (UPRN).   
 
Best practice demonstrates that the default position should be to prepare the list 
using the local hereditament address with ‘The Manager’ as the contact and then to 
update the list to a principal place of business/head office when voter details are 
confirmed.  Therefore the local authority should identify how additional voter details 
can be collected to maximise the opportunity for businesses to cast their vote.  This 
may be done directly by the local authority by way of pre-ballot canvass but, 
perhaps most likely, via the BID proposer ensuring evidence of voter identity is 
proved to the ballot holder who remains responsible for the list at all times.  All 
ballot papers are required to be sent within England via a postal ballot and 

Page 26



13 

therefore any person entitled to vote that is located outside England must be 
identified in advance and offered a proxy. 
 
Managing Changes to the List 
 
To ensure that the final voter list is as accurate as possible, the ballot holder should 
ensure it corresponds with the rating list update from the Valuation Office Agency 
closest to the date of Notice of Ballot.  Once the Notice of Ballot has been issued to 
the voters, this list is then fixed and no changes to the rating list can be taken into 
account during the ballot period.  In the event that ballot papers have not reached 
the correct name and address of the voter during the period of the ballot the 
Regulations allow two provisions: 
 

1. Proxy Application – where a named voter is unable or is not the appropriate 
person to vote, he/she can apply for a proxy vote to be given to a colleague 
within the same business. This can be done from the date of the Notice of 
Ballot through to ten days before the end of the ballot period. The proxy 
application must be sent from the original named voter to the ballot holder. 

2. Replacement of Lost Papers – where a voter has not received a ballot paper 
by the fourth day before the end of the ballot period, the voter can apply for a 
replacement ballot paper. 
 

Ballot Principles 
 
The ballot is run as a secret ballot meaning that the BID Proposer will not be 
notified of which way votes have been cast at any stage of the ballot, or after the 
ballot has ended.  However the ballot holder may report to the BID Proposer during 
the ballot which ballot papers have been received. 
The ballot must be won on two counts – both a majority by number of votes; and a majority 
by rateable value of those that turnout to vote with no turnout threshold required. 
The count of the ballot papers is the responsibility of the ballot holder and is required to be 
carried out as soon as practicable after the ballot has ended. In practice, it is 
usually undertaken the morning after the ballot has ended with the announcement 
straight after the count on the same day. 
 
Ballot Materials 
 
There are two sets of documents prepared  for the ballot– firstly the documents 
created and issued in accordance with the Regulations; and secondly the campaign 
and canvassing documents produced by the BID proposer and not dictated by the 
Regulations nor requiring the involvement of the local authority. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



14 

Ballot Documents  
 
The BID proposer will send out the notification of their intention to put the BID 
proposals to a ballot to both the Secretary of State and the local authority, at least 
84 days before formally asking the ballot holder to arrange a ballot.   
 
The Ballot Holder will send out the following:   
 

a. Notification to the Secretary of State at least 42 days before the day of the 
ballot, confirming that the Notice of Ballot has been issued 

b. Notice of Ballot and covering letter to those entitle to vote, which includes an 
explanation of the ballot arrangements, an explanation that the person may 
request a copy of the BID proposals from the BID proposer and provides the 
name and address of the BID proposer. 

c. Ballot Paper (best practice suggests using a different colour for the ballot 
paper to ensure it stands out and ensuring the envelopes used include the 
logo for the BID and a strapline making reference to ‘Ballot papers enclosed, 
please return by date’). 

d. Ballot Statement (often produced by the BID proposer in line with the other 
campaign documents and approved by the local authority. This must be sent 
out with the ballot paper and should be an impartial and factual document 
which provides an explanation of the BID arrangements and the ballot 
arrangements ) 

 
Best practice also suggests the inclusion in the ballot documents of: 

e. The statement of existing baseline services (these must be available for 
inspection prior to the ballot).  If a Baseline Agreement has been agreed 
(which includes the statement of existing baseline services) then this should 
be made available.  Section 3 of this Guide refers 

f. Levy collection arrangement (or operating agreement, (available for 
inspection prior to the ballot and for adoption at the commencement of the 
BID)) Section 4  of this Guide refers 

 
Ballot holder (Reg 6) 
6.  (1)  The person who holds a BID ballot, renewal ballot, alteration ballot or re-
ballot (“the ballot holder”) shall be the person the relevant billing authority has 
appointed under section 35 of the Representation of the People Act 1983(1) as the 
returning officer for elections to that authority.  
(2) The ballot holder may by writing under his hand appoint one or more persons to 
discharge all or any of his functions under these Regulations.  
Arrangements for holding a ballot and conduct of a ballot (Reg 7) 
7.  On receipt of an instruction under regulation 5, the ballot holder shall make 
arrangements for conducting a BID ballot, alteration ballot, renewal ballot or re-
ballot, as the case may be, in accordance with Schedule 2. 
Persons entitled to vote (Reg 8) 

Page 28

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/2443/regulation/6/made#f00009


15 

8.—(1) Subject to paragraph (3), a person shall be entitled to vote in a BID ballot, 
an alteration ballot or a re-ballot in respect of a BID ballot or an alteration ballot if, 
on the date the ballot holder publishes the notice under paragraph 3(a) of Schedule 
2, he falls within the class of non-domestic ratepayers to be liable for the BID levy 
described in the BID proposals or the alteration proposals, as the case may be.   
Schedule 2 
8.—(1) Nothing is to be printed on the ballot paper except in accordance with this 
paragraph.  
(2) Each ballot paper may have a number or barcode printed on the back. 
(3) The box in which a vote may be marked on the ballot paper shall not be less 
than 1.5 centimetres square.  
(4) All of the words on the ballot paper shall appear in the same size type.  
 
10.—(1) One ballot paper shall be issued in respect of each person entitled to vote 
in the BID ballot, renewal ballot, alteration ballot or re-ballot, as the case may be, in 
respect of each hereditament for which he is entitled to vote.  
(2) The address to which the ballot paper is to be sent is—  
(a) the address of the hereditament or the principal place of business within 
England of the person entitled to vote; or  
(b) in the case of a proxy, the address shown for the proxy on the list prepared 
under paragraph 3(b).  
(3) At the same time there shall be issued to each person entitled to vote or, if 
applicable, his proxy–  
(a) a statement prepared by the ballot holder providing an explanation of the BID 
arrangements and the arrangements for the ballot; and  
(b) an envelope for the return of the ballot paper (referred to in this Schedule as the 
“return envelope”). 
 
 

6. Notification of Ballot Outcome 
 

The Regulations require that as soon as is reasonably practicable after the ballot 
the ballot holder should arrange for public notice to be given of the outcome of the 
ballot.  Public notice must be given of the four specific matters set out paragraph 
17(1)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Regulations, which are: 
 
(a)the total number of votes cast in the ballot excluding any votes given on ballot 
papers rejected under paragraph 15 of Schedule 2;. 
 
(b)the aggregate rateable value of each hereditament in respect of which a person 
voted in the ballot;  
 
(c)the total number of votes cast in favour of the question asked in the ballot; and  
 

Page 29



16 

(d)the aggregate rateable value of each hereditament in respect of which a person 
voting in the ballot has voted in favour of the question asked. 
 
The Regulations do not currently prescribe the manner of publication or the period 
for which such publication should remain in the public domain.  Best practice has 
shown that, in addition to publication of the outcome by the ballot holder, the BID 
proposer should look to exploit all media and social media options.  They should 
ensure that all businesses on the ballot voter list are  made aware of the outcome 
as soon as possible.   
 
Best practice also suggests that the Local Authority , as a minimum, should place 
the outcome of the ballot on their website as soon as the outcome is known.  They 
should also consider other options via social media and publicising in  the local 
newspaper. 
 

7. Declaring a Ballot Void  
 

There is a 28 day period immediately after the ballot result announcement during 
which a request to the Secretary of State to declare the ballot void can be made.  
The request can be made by either the BID proposer/body, at least 5% of the 
voters, or the local authority and this request needs to be made in writing to the 
Secretary of State.  The request must set out the basis of the challenge which must 
be a perceived material irregularity in the ballot process.  A material irregularity 
means either that there has been a contravention of the regulations which is likely 
to have had a significant effect on the voting and/or that persons other than those 
entitled to vote have purported to vote or persons entitled to vote have been 
prevented from voting or hindered from doing so freely in accordance with their own 
opinion and that this is likely to have caused a significant impact on the result of the 
ballot.  On receipt of a request, the Secretary of State is required to notify the BID 
proposer and the local authority and then a further 28 days are available for written 
representations to be made and 14 days thereafter in response.  If the Secretary of 
State declares the ballot void, a re-ballot must be held. 
 
Regulation 9 
9.—(1) Subject to paragraph (3), the Secretary of State may declare void a BID 
ballot, renewal ballot, alteration ballot or re-ballot if it appears to him that a material 
irregularity has occurred.  
(2) In this regulation, “material irregularity” means—  
(a) a contravention of any requirement of these Regulations which, in the Secretary 
of State’s opinion, means it is likely that voting in the BID ballot, renewal ballot, 
alteration ballot or re-ballot, as the case may be, has been affected to a significant 
extent by the contravention;  
(b) persons other than persons entitled to vote have purported to vote in the BID 
ballot and, in the Secretary of State’s opinion, it is likely that the result of the BID 

Page 30



17 

ballot, renewal ballot, alteration ballot or re-ballot, as the case may be, has been 
affected to a significant extent; or  
(c) persons entitled to vote have been prevented from voting or hindered from doing 
so freely in accordance with their own opinion and, in the Secretary of State’s 
opinion, it is likely that the result of the BID ballot, renewal ballot, alteration ballot or 
re-ballot, as the case may be, has been affected to a significant extent.  
(3) Paragraph (1) shall not apply unless, by the date which is 28 days after the 
notice of the result is published pursuant to paragraph 17 of Schedule 2, a person 
(“the complainant”), being a person or group of persons referred to in paragraph 
(4), has made a request (by notice given in writing) to the Secretary of State to 
exercise his powers under this regulation, specifying the reason for such a request.  
(4) The persons mentioned in paragraph (3) are—  
(a) the BID proposer or the BID body;  
(b) at least 5 per cent. of the number of persons entitled to vote in the BID ballot, 
renewal ballot, alteration or re-ballot, as the case may be; or  
(c) the relevant billing authority. 
(5) On receipt of a request under paragraph (3) the Secretary of State shall notify 
the complainant, the relevant billing authority and the BID proposer or the BID 
body, as the case may be, in writing that he has received the request and send a 
copy to each of them.  
(6) Where two or more requests relate to the same ballot, the Secretary of State 
may decide those requests together.  
(7) Within 28 days of the date of the notice given by the Secretary of State under 
paragraph (5) the complainant, the relevant billing authority and the BID proposer 
or the BID body, as the case may be, may serve on the Secretary of State written 
representations in respect of the request.  
(8) A copy of the representations made by one party shall be sent by the Secretary 
of State to the other parties and shall be accompanied by a statement explaining 
the effect of paragraph (9).  
(9) Any party to whom a copy of representations is sent under paragraph (8) may 
within 14 days of receiving them serve on the Secretary of State further written 
representations in reply and the Secretary of State shall send a copy of any such 
further representations to the other parties.  
(10) The Secretary of State shall notify the complainant, the relevant billing 
authority and the BID proposer or the BID body, as the case may be, in writing of 
his decision and where he declares void a BID ballot, renewal ballot, alteration 
ballot or re-ballot, he shall notify the relevant billing authority in writing requiring it to 
arrange for a re-ballot or, as the case may be, a further re-ballot to be held. 
(11) Where the Secretary of State declares void a BID ballot, a renewal ballot, an 
alteration ballot or a re-ballot in relation to such a ballot and he is of the opinion that 
the material irregularity was caused by the actions or omissions of the BID proposer 
or BID body, as the case may be, he shall issue a notice in writing to that effect with 
his decision notice and, he shall include in the notice an explanation of the effect of 
regulation 10.  
(12) Where the Secretary of State declares void a BID ballot, a renewal ballot, an 
alteration ballot or a re-ballot in relation to such a ballot—  

Page 31



18 

(a) the BID arrangements, the renewed BID arrangements or the alterations to the 
BID arrangements, to which the ballot declared void relates, shall not come into 
force on the commencement date; and  
(b) subject to paragraph (13), the BID arrangements, the renewed BID 
arrangements or the alterations to the BID arrangements, if subsequently approved 
in the re-ballot, shall come into force on such day as the relevant billing authority 
determines.  
(13) The day determined under paragraph (12) shall be no later than a year after 
the date of the notice of the result is published pursuant to paragraph 17 of 
Schedule 2. 
 
 

8. Termination Procedures 
The local authority has a role defined in the Regulations in pursuing 
termination procedures in the event that the BID has insufficient funds and/or 
is unable to deliver the services. The termination arrangements require the 
local authority to run a consultation with ‘appropriate’ business 
representatives and to give a notice of 28 days. 
 

Termination of BID arrangements (Reg 18) 
18.—(1) The relevant billing authority may terminate BID arrangements where—  
(a) in the opinion of the authority, the BID body will have insufficient finances to 
meet its liabilities for the current chargeable period and the authority has—  
(i) offered the BID body a reasonable opportunity to arrange for financing the 
shortfall or for a reduction in the works or services under the BID arrangements 
which is sufficient to offset the shortfall; and  
(ii) given those persons who are liable to the BID levy an opportunity, at a public 
meeting, to make representations in relation to the termination of the BID 
arrangements; or  
(b) the authority is unable, due to any cause beyond the control of the authority, to 
provide works or services which are necessary for the BID to continue and the 
authority has—  
(i) where there is a BID body, consulted the BID body and conducted a consultation 
with such representatives of the business community for the geographical area of 
the BID as the authority considers appropriate; and  
(ii) where a local authority BID body is responsible for implementing the BID 
arrangements, conducted a consultation with such representatives of the business 
community for the geographical area of the BID as the authority considers 
appropriate. 
 

Page 32



19 

 
Summary Checklist for best practice 
 
Developing a BID is labour intensive, both for the BID proposer and the local 
authority and requires a focused effort to ensure a robust and thorough process is 
followed. 
The key tasks for a local authority to complete are: 

1. Regulations 
a. Thoroughly read and understand the Regulations  
b. Agree the ‘approval process’ whether this is via Committee or 

delegated approval 
c. Satisfy yourself there is likely to be no need for a veto of the BID 

proposals 
d. Review and sign-off the BID proposals prior to ballot 

2. Ratings List Data 
a. Provide rating list data for consultation 
b. Provide updated rating list data for the voter list 

3. Baselines 
a. Coordinate details on local authority services and produce the 

statement of existing baseline services  
4. Levy Collection 

a. Produce the levy collection arrangement (operating agreement) 
defining the terms of levy collection and enforcement 

b. Agree the arrangements for billing along with the annual billing leaflet 
c. Agree method of charging, i.e. daily charging or chargeable day and 

ensure there is a closed financial year rule in place 
d. Agree the pricing of the levy collection service in line with Industry 

Criteria 
5. Running the Ballot 

a. Agree whether the ballot is going to be in-house or outsourced and 
confirm the timetable 

b. Agree the principles of creating the voter list and confirm if a pre-ballot 
canvass is going to take place 

c. Set the voter list at the last rating list update prior to the Notice of Ballot 
d. Agree the contents of all ballot pack materials 
e. Agree the procedures for proxy applications and replacement ballot 

paper requests 
f. Agree the ballot count arrangements and the announcement of the 

result 
6. Void Ballot 

a. Be aware of the rules in relation to declaring a ballot void by the 
Secretary of State 

7. Termination 
a. Be aware of the responsibilities of the local authority in relation to a 

possible call for termination 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
          
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to Economy and Growth Select Committee 
 

19th April 2018 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
1.        Reason for the Report: To inform Councillors of the proposals in the draft 

National Planning Policy Framework which is currently subject to consultation. 
The report also makes recommendations regarding responding to the 
consultation.  

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Councillors note the proposals in the draft National Planning Policy 
Framework and the proposal to work with the Local Government Association 
to submit a joint response (Option 1 in Section 5). 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Government is consulting on a revised draft of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) and supporting guidance until 10th May. The 
consultation builds on previous document issued by Government, including 
the Housing White Paper. The revised NPPF seeks to facilitate further 
housing growth, protect the green belt, streamline developer contributions and 
reflect changes since the introduction of the original NPPF in 2012 such as 
Written Ministerial Statements and case law.  

 
3.2 Much of the draft document can be welcomed. However, there are concerns 

regarding the proposed approach to developer contributions which may have 
a negative impact on the ability to maximise affordable housing contributions 
on viable sites. Other concerns include the implications of the proposed 

TITLE: National Planning Policy Framework 
consultation  

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Ashton 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager 
   

WARDS INVOLVED: All areas  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Housing Delivery Test and the standard methodology for assessing Local 
Housing Needs. It is proposed that Council engages with the Local 
Government Association to submit a response to the consultation as it is more 
likely to influence the final NPPF.  

 
3.3 Once the NPPF is finalised later this Summer, it will be a material 

consideration to planning applications and it will form the policy basis for a 
future review of the Local Plan.     

   
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework will have implications for the 

following Corporate Priorities by influencing future decisions regarding 
planning applications and any updates to the Local Plan:  
 
• Aim One - Help create a safer and healthier environment for our 

residents to live and work 
• Aim Three - Support economic development & regeneration 
• Aim Four - Protect and improve the environment. 

 
 
5.       Options and Analysis. 
 
5.1 Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council liaises with the Local Government 

Association to submit a joint response to the consultation. This is 
recommended as it is considered that such a response will carry more weight. 

 
5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council submits its own response or 

does not respond to the consultation. This is not recommended as it would 
provide the Council with less or no influence over national policy. 

 
6. Implications 
 
  

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
No implications. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
None direct 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The potential for the proposed Housing Delivery Test to influence 

Page 36



 
 

future New Homes Bonus payments could have financial 
implications for the Council. This will be subject to separate 
consultation at a later date. As such, the implications at this stage 
are unclear.  
 

6.5 Legal 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
dictates that applications for planning permission should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Once adopted, the new 
NPPF will become a material consideration to planning 
applications.  
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
The draft NPPF still requires Local Plans to be supported by a 
Sustainability Appraisal. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
The draft National Planning Policy Framework has been published 
for public consultation until 10th May. It is proposed that the Council 
engages with the Local Government Association to prepare a joint 
response to Government.  
 

6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
If the Council does not engage with the consultation, there will be 
an increased risk that the revised NPPF has a negative impact on 
the Borough. If the Council does not engage with the Local 
Government Association to respond, there is an increased risk that 
the Borough Council’s response will carry less weight. These risks 
are minimised, but not eliminated, through Option 1 in Section 5 to 
this report.  
 

7.         Background and Detail  

7.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 
policy in respect of planning and how they should be applied. It provides the 
framework for the preparation of Local Plans and other planning documents 
such as Neighbourhood Plans. The NPPF is also a material consideration for 
planning applications. The current NPPF was established in 2012 and has 
been subject to review by Government. A revised draft has now been issued 
for consultation which builds on initial proposals published by Government in 
previous years. The proposals reflect consultation feedback gather to date, 
Written Ministerial Statements issued since the publication of the NPPF in 
2012 and the effect of case law on the interpretation of the current NPPF. 

Page 37



 
 

7.2 Alongside the draft NPPF are proposals for updates to the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) which supplements the NPPF. Further proposals 
for reforming developer contributions (S106 agreements) are also expected 
to be brought forward through regulations.  

7.3 The overarching premise of the draft NPPF is to facilitate the Government’s 
drive to increase house building across England with a view to delivering 
300,000 net additional homes per year. However, there remains a strong 
commitment to protect the Green Belt. In this context, a summary of the key 
proposals is provided below. A link to the Government’s own overview of the 
proposals and detailed wording of the draft NPPF is provided at the end of 
this report. 

 Housing requirements and supply 

 A new standard methodology for determining local housing needs is proposed 
to determine the minimum number of homes to be provided for in Local Plans. 
Any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas should also be taken 
into account. The methodology should apply unless there are there are 
exceptional circumstances that justify an alternative approach which also 
reflects current and future demographic trends and market signals. The 
assessment of Local Housing Need will be informed by the latest household 
projections over a ten year period published by the Government with an 
adjustment to reflect local affordability of housing. This is determined by 
considering the ratio of local average income to local average house prices 
applying data published by the Office for National Statistics. Provisions for 
caps to the Local Housing Need are also set out in recognition of the fact that 
in some parts of the country, the new methodology will result in an increase in 
housing requirements. Based on data currently available, the Local Housing 
Need figure in High Peak would be lower than the current Local Plan 
requirement and objectively assessed need for housing (350 homes per year). 
However, it is important to note that the current High Peak figures include an 
uplift to support economic growth and affordable housing provision which 
does not form part of the standard methodology. The new method also only 
determines the minimum number of homes to be provided. New household 
projections and affordability ratio data is due to be published later this year. 
This data will confirm the implications of the new methodology when it is in 
place. An extract from the draft NPPG is provided at Appendix 1 to this report 
which sets out the methodology in more detail. The greater certainty regarding 
the minimum number of homes to be provided under the standard 
methodology is supported. However, it is considered that development 
requirements for Local Plan will still prove to be contentious. In order to 
provide further clarity for areas seeking to provide more homes that the 
minimum number required, it is considered that the NPPG should provide 
further guidance and support for this. This would apply in areas such as High 
Peak with a high need for affordable housing and where economic growth 
would also be facilitated through additional housing.  

 Local plans should provide for objectively assessed needs for development, 
including unmet need from neighbouring areas, unless particular policies 
provide "a strong reason for restricting the overall scale” of development. The 

Page 38



 
 

balancing exercise to justify not meeting needs in full whereby any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits remains. This proposal formalises what in effect has already been 
good practice as local authorities have sought to address unmet housing 
needs through the Duty to Co-operate.  

 Policies providing a specific reason for restricting development are set out in a 
defined list rather than as examples as in the present NPPF. They include 
green belt, land “within” national parks, local green spaces and Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest. This clarity is supported. However, recognition of 
the constraints placed on local authorities that adjoin or a partially within a 
national park should also be acknowledged given their statutory duty to have 
regard to the purposes of national park as specified in the Environment Act 
1995, namely; 

(i) to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage 
of the national parks; and 

(ii) to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities [of the parks] by the public. 

 As with the current NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development would be triggered where a council cannot demonstrate a five-
year housing supply. In areas with recent1 Neighbourhood Plans that plan for 
housing, the NPPF states that it is unlikely that the benefits of the 
development would outweigh the harm provided that there is a three year 
supply of housing and its housing delivery was at least 45% of that required 
over the previous three years. This carries forward the existing extra 
protection for areas with Neighbourhood Plans as set out in the 2016 Written 
Ministerial Statement. This reflects the current approach.  

 The presumption in favour of sustainable development may also apply where 
a new housing delivery test indicates that delivery of housing has been 
substantially below the housing requirement over the previous three years. 
The Secretary of State will publish the Housing Delivery Test result for each local 
planning authority in England every November. The full implications of the 
Housing Delivery Test results are proposed to be: 

o The publication of an action plan if housing delivery falls below 95%. 
The action plan would set out how the local authority intends to 
increase delivery; 

o A 20% buffer on a local planning authority’s five-year land supply if 
housing delivery falls below 85%; and 

o The presumption in favour of sustainable development if housing 
delivery falls below 75%, once proposed transitional arrangements 
have ended 

The transitional arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test are: 

                                            
1
 Recent being defined as passed at referendum two years or less before the date on which the 

decision is made 

Page 39



 
 

o From the day following the publication of the 2018 Housing Delivery 
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below 
25%; 

o From the day following the publication of the 2019 Housing Delivery 
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below 
45%; 

o From the day following the publication of the 2020 Housing Delivery 
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below 
75% (the final threshold) 

The supporting documentation to the draft NPPF suggests that in future, the 
Housing Delivery Test may also be used in determining New Homes Bonus 
payments. This would be subject to further separate consultation before proposed 
implementation in 2019-20. Whilst the need to encourage local authorities to 
facilitate housing delivery is acknowledged, it is of concern that the proposed 
housing delivery test will potentially undermine Local Plans and the “plan-led 
system” if the presumption in favour of sustainable development is applied when 
delivery falls below 75%. In many instances, delivery can be almost entirely in the 
hands of private developers with the Council having little opportunity to directly 
accelerate the implementation of sites with permission. It is also considered that 
the Housing Delivery Test may act as a dis-incentive to local authorities who may 
otherwise wish to plan for more homes than the minimum requirement 
established by the standard methodology due to the extra risk of failing the 
delivery test and having less influence over future applications.   

 In order to allow authorities to incentivise timely delivery of development, the 
NPPF allows authorities to consider imposing a planning condition to bring 
forward development within two years, except where a shorter timescale 
could hinder the viability or deliverability of a scheme. It also encourages local 
planning authorities to consider why major sites have not been built out when 
considering subsequent planning applications. These measures are to be 
welcomed.  

 Councils would be able to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable sites 
through a recently adopted local plan2 or an annual position statement. The 
draft includes a mechanism allowing the five-year land supply position to be 
agreed for a one-year period, subject to a ten per cent buffer "to account for 
any fluctuations in the market during that year". This would involve 
engagement with developers others who have an impact on delivery and then 
consideration by the Secretary of State. The annual position statement must 
also incorporate changes recommended by the Secretary of State if 
agreement cannot reached between the parties regarding specific sites during 
the engagement process. The principle of this approach is supported as it 
would reduce the frequency with which the housing land supply is contested 
at planning appeals.  

 

                                            
2
 A plan adopted between 1 May and 31 October will be considered ‘recently adopted’ until 31 

October of the following year; and a plan adopted between 1 November and 30 April will be 
considered recently adopted until 31 October that year 

Page 40



 
 

Local Plans 

 The “tests of soundness” that Local Plans are considered against at 
examination are proposed to be amended. Plans will need to show that they 
propose "an appropriate strategy", compared with the current requirement for 
them to constitute "the most appropriate strategy" for the area. In order for 
Local Plans to pass the test of being “positively prepared”, the draft NPPF 
states that plans should “meet as much as possible” development needs. This 
appears to be a softening of these two tests which should be less onerous for 
local authorities to pass at examination. In order for plans to be considered 
“effective”, they will in future need to be evidenced by statements of common 
ground which establish strategic matters of co-operation between the Council 
and other bodies. This Council agreed similar memoranda of understanding 
with Cheshire East Council, Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council and the 
Peak District National Park Authority during the preparation of the adopted 
Local Plan. These proposals can be supported. 

 There is a new requirement for authorities to review Local Plan policies every 
five years following the date of adoption, with updates, if necessary, to reflect 
changing circumstances. This may include changes to the Local Housing 
Need. The NPPF update merely reflects Regulation 10A of The Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
which introduced the plan review requirement on 6th April 2018.  

 The test for Green Belt release to be proposed in Local Plans only in 
“exceptional circumstances” is carried forward from the existing NPPF. 
However, further clarification is given on how this must be demonstrated.  
Planning authorities must fully examine "all other reasonable options" for 
meeting their identified development needs before releasing green belt by; 
making as much use as possible of suitable brownfield sites and underutilised 
land, optimising densities in town centres and other locations well served by 
public transport" and considering the scope for development to be 
accommodated in neighbouring authorities. Councils are also advised to set 
out ways in which the impact of removing land from the green belt can be 
offset through compensatory improvements to the environmental quality and 
accessibility of remaining green belt land. The clarification of the approach 
required support green belt release is welcomed.  

 Local plans should set out a housing requirement figure for designated 
neighbourhood areas and this should not need retesting at neighbourhood 
plan examinations. The adopted High Peak Local Plan already sets out the 
requirement for the Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan. This requirement 
can be supported.  

 Where policy requirements have been tested for viability at the plan-making 
stage, such issues should not usually need to be visited again at the planning 
application stage. The proposed new policy expects all viability assessments 
to reflect a recommended approach to be set in revised national planning 
guidance and says all viability assessments should be made publicly 
available. The guidance says plans can set out when and how review 
mechanisms may be used to amend developer contributions to help account 

Page 41



 
 

for significant changes in costs and values, and how any significant increase 
in overall value should be apportioned between the local authority and the 
developer. This is intended to make the process more streamlined and 
transparent. The principle of this approach is supported. However, it is 
considered that removing the flexibility for negotiating S106 agreement could 
have unintended consequences. Some schemes could be rendered unviable 
unless the policy requirements are set as such a low level that they are viable 
in the vast majority of cases. Setting requirements at such a level will 
inevitably result in lower levels of contributions towards planning gain, 
including affordable housing, from the more viable sites in the Borough with 
the potential to support further contributions.  

 The consultation document that accompanies the draft NPPF states that the 
Government is "open to views" over its proposals to require councils to ensure 
that one-fifth of their housing supply pipeline in Local Plans is made up of 
small sites of under half a hectare. This approach is considered to be arbitrary 
and may lead to lengthy Local Plan examinations with discussion around 
many more sites than previously which, individually, offer little in terms of 
housing land supply. A more pragmatic approach would be for windfall 
allowances to count towards the boost to the supply of small sites.  

 There is a clear requirement for policies for addressing the housing 
requirements of groups with particular needs. In addition, to the elderly and 
disabled, students and travellers have been added to the list, as have people 
who rent their homes. This can be supported.  

Developer contributions 

 In a separate consultation, the government proposes that it may in the future 
consider setting developer contributions nationally and making them "non-
negotiable. As stated above, this proposal may have unintended and 
unhelpful consequences that should be avoided.  

Timescales and implications 

7.4 The consultation closes on 10 May 2018. The final NPPF is expected to be 
issued later this Summer. Annex 1 to the draft NPPF sets out the transitional 
arrangements for the implementation of the new NPPF once it is published. 
The NPPF will be a material consideration to planning applications from the 
day of its publication.  

7.5 Local Plans may also need to be revised to reflect policy changes. However, 
existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 
were adopted or made prior to the new NPPF. Due weight should be given to 
them, according to their degree of consistency with the NPFF (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may 
be given). Accordingly, the new NPPF will form the basis of the next review of 
the Local Plan.  

 

Page 42



 
 

Dai Larner  
Executive Director - Place 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

https://www.gov.uk/government/con
sultations/draft-revised-national-
planning-policy-framework 
 
 
 
 

Buxton Town Hall Mark James (Senior 
Regeneration Officer -
Planning Policy) 
mark.james@highpeak.go
v.uk. Ext. 3643. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/draft-revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/draft-revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/draft-revised-national-planning-policy-framework
mailto:mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk


 
 

APPENDIX 1 – Extract from the draft NPPG – standard methodology for 
assessing minimum Local Housing Needs 
 
STEP 1 - SETTING THE BASELINE  

National Household projections, for the area of the local authority, provide the starting 
point.  
 
The household projections are produced by applying projected household representative 
rates to the population projections published by the Office for National Statistics. 
Projected household representative rates are based on trends observed in Census and 
Labour Force Survey data.  
 
The household projections are trend based, meaning that they provide the household 
levels and structures that would result if the assumptions based on previous 
demographic trends in the population and rates of household formation were to be 
realised in practice. They do not attempt to predict the impact that future government 
policies, changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic 
behaviour.  
 
The most recent official projections need to be used to calculate the average annual 
household growth over a 10 year period.  
 
STEP 2 - AN ADJUSTMENT TO TAKE ACCOUNT OF MARKET SIGNALS  

 
An important consideration in assessing an appropriate level of housing is the 
affordability of homes, which means that projected household growth needs to be 
adjusted to take account of market signals.  
 
Median affordability ratios, published by the Office for National Statistics at a local 
authority level, should be used for adjusting household projections. The affordability 
ratios compare the median house prices to median workplace earnings. Plan-making 
authorities should use the most recent year for which data is available.  
 
Each 1% increase in the ratio of house prices to earnings above 4 results in a quarter of 
a per cent increase in need above projected household growth. The precise formula is 
as follows:  
 

 
 
The local housing need figure is therefore as follows:  
 
Local housing need = (1+adjustment factor) x projected household growth  
 
So, for example, an area with a projected household growth of 132 a year would have 
an annual need of:  
• 132 if average house prices were 4 times local average earnings  
• 165 if average houses prices were 8 times local average earnings  
• 198 if average house prices were 12 times local average earnings  
 

Page 44



 
 

STEP 3 - CAPPING THE LEVEL OF ANY INCREASE  

 
The market adjustment could lead to a significant increase in the local housing need in 
some parts of the country. To help ensure the method is deliverable, a cap on the local 
housing need may be applied. The appropriate cap will depend on the current status of 
the plan in each authority as follows:  
 
a. for those authorities that have reviewed their plan (including a review of local housing 
need) or adopted their plan in the last five years, a cap may be applied to their new 
annual local housing need figure at 40% above the average annual requirement figure 
currently set out in their plan; or  
 
b. for those authorities that have not reviewed their plan (including a review of local 
housing need) or adopted their plan in the last five years, a cap may be applied to their 
new annual local housing need figure at 40% above whichever is higher of the projected 
household growth for their area over the 10 years (using Office for National Statistics’ 
household projections), or the annual housing requirement figure set out in their most 
recent plan if one exists.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



  

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to Economy and Growth Select Committee 
 

19 April 2018 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices 

 
1 - Plan showing the proposed Fairfield to Station Road Buxton Gateway Zone 
2 - Plan showing the proposed A57 western entrance to Glossop Gateway Zone 

 

 

1 Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To seek authority to introduce a Gateway Improvements Programme to act as 
a catalyst to the development of strategically important “Gateway Zones” as 
follows: 
 
(a) the Fairfield to Station Road corridor in Buxton  
(b) the A57 western entrance to Glossop  

 
 
2 Recommendations 

  

2.1 That the Executive be recommended to:  
 

(a) Authorise officers to establish a Gateway Improvements Programme as set 
out in this report with an initial focus on the Fairfield to Station Road 
corridor in Buxton and the A57 western entrance to Glossop;  
 

(b) Authorise officers to work on two early projects as part of the programme 
and subject to further details being brought back to the Executive as 
follows: 

 
i. Proposals aimed at improving the front appearance of properties 

along the west side of Fairfield Road Buxton via a targeted grant 
scheme and improvements to front forecourt gardens  
 

 

TITLE:    Gateway Improvement Programme 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Tony Kemp – Executive Portfolio 

for Tourism, Regeneration & Licensing 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Tuffrey, Principal Regeneration 

Officer 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  All Buxton and Glossop Wards 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



  

ii. Prepare proposals to improve the site and area around the former 
Spread Eagle Public House (Riverside Inn) at Woolley Bridge 
where the new proposed junction of A57 and Wooley Lane is 
proposed in Glossop. 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 This report is proposing to introduce a Gateway Improvements Programme 

which will, over time, bring together a whole range of regeneration initiatives 
aimed at improving facilities for the immediate local communities affected 
whilst also improving the appearance of the key strategic routes into Buxton 
and Glossop.  It is proposed that the Gateway Improvements Programme 
recognises two Gateway Zones – the Fairfield to Station Road corridor in 
Buxton and the A57 western entrance to Glossop at Dinting Vale.   Plans 
showing these proposed zones are appended to this report. 
 

3.2 In both of these zones, the aim will be to plan a series of actions to improve 
the appearance and function of these key strategic locations that act as 
gateways and, in turn, create an improved first impression of the town. It is 
proposed to prepare an action plan identifying opportunities for improving 
these locations, taking into consideration any planned projects/ initiatives and 
development opportunities. The actions could range from development of 
housing/ employment sites, enhancement of built frontages of existing 
buildings, improved traffic management, alternative ways of managing street 
cleanliness and appearance etc. 

 
3.3 The delivery of the Local Plan’s vision for High Peak has taken a major step 

forward by the long awaited construction work relating to the Buxton Crescent 
and Thermal Spa project now being well underway and the recent 
announcement of the Mottram Moor to Glossop Link Road being added to the 
government’s highways investment programme.  However, realising the full 
potential of these developments on the regeneration strategies for the Buxton 
and Glossop town centres could be hindered by the poor appearance of parts 
of Fairfield Road into Buxton and the former Spread Eagle Public House in 
Glossop.   
 

3.4 As quick wins, therefore, the report is proposing to focus on two immediate 
initiatives: 

 
(a) The improvement of the appearance of a section of Fairfield Road 

including improvements to the public realm and some of the private 
properties fronting onto Fairfield Road 

(b) Addressing the derelict condition of the existing buildings and create an 
enhanced gateway to High Peak at Woolley Bridge  

  
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The proposed gateway improvement Programme would link to Aim Three of 

the High Peak Corporate Plan 2017-19: To support economic development 
and regeneration – measured through sustainable towns and rural 
communities and increased economic growth. 

Page 48



  

 
5. Options 
 
5.1 The Executive is recommended to authorise officers to initiate a Gateway 

Improvements Programme as set out in this report.  The report also proposes 
two initial schemes for the programme in view of the present issues 
surrounding these two locations detracting from their immediate locality as well 
as diminishing the positive regeneration of their respective town centres.    

 
5.2 The recommendations are set out to allow the principle of establishing the 

Gateway Improvements Programme to be considered separately from the two 
initial projects. 

 
 6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

 

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

In terms of the proposed initial projects, both would potentially contribute to 
improved community safety.  The former public house at Woolley Bridge is 
attracting trespassers who are putting themselves at danger due to its derelict 
condition.   
 
Improvements along Fairfield Road may result in reduced environmental crime 
in that it is hoped that residents, property owners and visitors will adopt a 
sense of pride in their surroundings.   
 

6.2 
 

Workforce 
 

Not relevant to the recommendations of this report. 

 
6.3 

 

 
Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s diversity and 
equality Policies. 
 

6.4 
 

Financial Considerations 
 

It is proposed to establish a Gateway Improvements Programme with an initial 
capital budget of £64,000 made up from existing allocations within the current 
capital programme shown as Heritage Regeneration Scheme (which has been 
suspended) and the Landlord Accreditation Scheme. Supporting revenue 
funding has been allowed for in the Operational Services waste collection 
budget.   

6.5 Legal 
 
The proposals will operate using various powers available to the Council under 
the Local Government Act 1972 and other legislation.  The specific legal 
powers will be set out along with detailed proposals in later reports.  

6.6 Sustainability 
 

The proposed Gateway Improvements Programme will aim to promote 
improvements to properties and sites that are sustainable.  

Page 49



  

 

6.7 Risk Assessment 

Any risks arising to the Council would be in relation to the detailed proposals 
which will be the subject of a later report.  All risks will be set out at that time.  

  
7. Background and Detail 
 
7.1 The High Peak Local Plan was adopted last year which aims to promote a 

sustainable and growing local economy through the creation of job 
opportunities and affordable housing so as to help people remain in, or return 
to, their local communities according to local needs. It also aims to turn around 
the historic and industrial legacy of the area in order to grow the tourism 
economy.  Buxton’s adopted vision is to become England’s Leading Spa Town 
whilst Glossop will build on its growing reputation as a destination for high-
quality food and drink to provide a compelling mix of retail and leisure 
opportunities in an appealing town centre. 

 
7.2 The plan’s designated development sites reflect this overriding vision via a 

clustered arc of employment sites from Waterside, Hadfield to Dinting Vale, 
Glossop on the western edge of Glossopdale together with a corridor of 
housing, employment and regeneration sites from Fairfield to Station Road in 
Buxton.   

 
7.3 Two recent developments have the potential to lead to a step-change in terms 

of realising the plan’s strategic vision.  These are the long awaited 
construction work relating to the Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa project 
now being well underway and the recent announcement of the Mottram Moor 
to Glossop Link Road being added to the government’s highways investment 
programme.  However, for the potential benefits of these developments for the 
respective town centres to be fully realised, the Council needs to address the 
poor appearance of some gateway sites to Buxton and Glossop. 

 
7.4 This report is proposing to introduce a Gateway Improvements Programme 

which will, over time, bring together a whole range of regeneration initiatives 
aimed at improving facilities for the immediate local communities affected 
whilst also improving the appearance of the key strategic routes into Buxton 
and Glossop.  It is proposed that the programme should recognise two 
Gateway Zones – the Fairfield to Station Road corridor in Buxton and the A57 
western entrance to Glossop – see Appendices 1 and 2.   The report is also 
proposing to focus on two immediate initiatives: 

 

 The improvement of the appearance of a section of Fairfield Road looking 
at improvements to the public realm and some of the private properties 
fronting onto Fairfield Road 

 Addressing the derelict condition of the former Spread Eagle Public House 
(later known as the Riverside Inn) at Woolley Bridge 

 
 
 
 

Page 50



  

 Fairfield to Station Road Corridor, Buxton 
 
7.5 Buxton’s town centre has been the subject of a heritage-led regeneration 

programme for the last two decades which is shortly to reach a key milestone 
with the completion of the Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa project in 2019.   
Whilst this programme has already transformed Buxton’s overall prosperity 
and vibrancy, the completion of the Crescent project is anticipated to make a 
step change towards realising the strategic planning vision for Buxton to 
become England’s Leading Spa Town.  In parallel with this, the Council is 
making every effort to deliver a number of key housing and employment sites 
on the northern edge of Buxton at Fairfield.  If the development of these sites 
can be realised, it is hoped that a significant investment can be made in the 
infrastructure and facilities on offer in the Fairfield community.   

 
7.6 Notwithstanding the above, one of the key routes into the town centre along 

the A6 from Stockport via Fairfield Road presents a poor image to the town 
largely due to the condition of a number of the properties on the west side of 
the road.   These properties, which are a mix of houses in multiple occupation, 
flats and single family homes suffer from a lack of external repairs, 
inappropriate alterations and untidy forecourt gardens. Whereas Council 
grants have been made to a number of properties (Landlord Accreditation 
Grants) these are focused on improving the standard of accommodation 
available rather than the overall appearance of the property. 

 
7.7 Public concern has been expressed about the condition of these properties so 

that an initial project of the Gateway Improvements Programme proposes to: 
 

a) Fund grants aimed at improving the front external appearance of some of 
the properties including the front forecourt gardens.  The aim would be to 
promote a small number of exemplary improvement schemes initially in 
order to demonstrate the potential  improvements that can be achieved 
before reviewing whether the grants project should continue in either the 
same or an amended form.  
 

b) Work with the property owners, the Buxton Town Team, Derbyshire 
County Council and the Borough Council’s Operational Services team 
regarding the public realm and ways of reducing the visual impact of the 
large number of refuse bins.  

 
A57 entrance to Glossop  
 

7.8 As part of the Trans Pennine Upgrade programme, Highways England 
announced in November last year that it has identified the preferred option for 
the Mottram Moor and A57(T) to A57 Link Roads.  This means that a budget 
has been created for this within the government’s highways investment 
programme and the link road will now be the subject of detailed planning 
process via a Development Consent Order.  Subject to the planning process 
proceeding smoothly, a final decision would allow the construction to start 
soon after 2020.   

 

Page 51



  

7.9 The Glossop end of the new link road will re-join the existing A57 to the south 
of the existing Woolley Bridge roundabout and, as a consequence, create an 
opportunity to redesign the road layout which will carry significantly less traffic 
and potentially create a development site. As part of the statutory consultation 
process the Council is required to prepare a Local Impact Report (LIR) 
identifying the impact of the new road on the local area. It is proposed to 
consider the sites around this junction including the former Spread Eagle 
Public House as part of this impact report. 

 
7.10 In preparation of that, officers are proposing to prepare proposals to address 

the poor appearance of the proposed major junction which forms an entrance 
to High Peak. The former Spread Eagle Public House (later the Riverside Inn) 
which ceased trading about 10 years ago and has subsequently fallen into 
considerable disrepair and forms a poor image of the area. The owners have 
made various attempts at refurbishment, all of which have stalled due to a lack 
of adequate funding.  The now ruinous building has attracted vandals and is 
already in a dangerous condition.  As the building is located immediately after 
the entry signs to the Borough and Glossop, this presents a very poor image, 
as well as a safety trap.    

 
7.11 It is proposed that the Gateway Improvements Programme should investigate 

the powers and procedures available to the Council to tidy up the site in the 
short term to be followed by possible development of the site in the longer 
term. It is also proposed to explore the opportunity to find an alternative use 
for this very visible gateway site that will be more visible with the arrival of the 
new bypass. An opportunity exists to remodel this site along with surrounding 
sites as part of a wider land assembly to accommodate more suitable uses, of 
appropriate scale, relevant to the location. 

 
7.12 Subject to members approving the recommendations of this report, it is 

proposed to bring further details back for approval relating to both projects set 
out under paragraphs 7.5 -7.11 above. 

 
  

Dai Larner 
Executive Director - Place 

 
Web Links and background papers Contact details 

Files kept electronically Richard Tuffrey 
Principal Regeneration Officer 
Richard.tuffrey@highpeak.gov.uk 

01538 395583 

   

Page 52

mailto:Richard.tuffrey@highpeak.gov.uk


Key

Proposed gateway zone

Properties on Fairfield         
Road referred to in the 
report

Appendix 1

Plan showing the proposed Fairfield to Buxton Gateway Zone

P
age 53



Appendix 2

Plan showing the proposed A57 western entrance to Glossop

Key

Proposed gateway zone

(excluding area outside 
Borough boundary)

Site of Spread Eagle PH    
referred to in the report

P
age 54



       11 April 2018 

ECONOMY AND GROWTH  

Chairman: Councillor A McKeown 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Grooby 
Lead Officer: Dai Larner 

Date Items Contact Officer 
Purpose/Method of 

Consideration 

19-Apr-18 Business Improvement Districts Dai Larner Report & presentation 

Skills Lindsay Allen, D2N2 
LEP 

Presentation 

National Planning Policy Framework Consultation Mark James  

Growth and Planning Pranali Parikh/|Ben 
Hayward 

Presentation 

Gateway Improvement Programme  Richard Tuffrey  

Work Programme   

   

Jun-18 Appointment of Chairman and Vice Chairman   

Car Park investment Terry Crawford  

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework Update  Pranali Parikh  

South East Manchester Multi-Modal Study Refresh  Pranali Parikh  

Right to buy update  Pranali Parikh  

Work Programme   

   

Jul-18 Local Plan – delivery report Hilary Senior  

Work Programme   

   

Sep-18 Work Programme   

   

   

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 10



       11 April 2018 

ECONOMY AND GROWTH  
Nov-18 Work Programme   

   

   

Feb-19 Work Programme   

   

   

Mar-19 Work Programme   

   

   

To add in Other infrastructure updates ? Mark James/Partners 
to be invited to attend 

 

Update/s on Peak Park Local Plan ?   

Arrangements in Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire to 
create metro area 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56


	Agenda
	4 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Business Improvement Districts
	Business Improvement Districts - Appendix

	7 National Planning Policy Framework Consultation
	9 Gateway Improvement Programme
	Gateway Improvement Programme Appendices 1 and 2

	10 Select Committee Work Programme

